




19.8160.02000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

01/14/2019

Amendment to: HB 1439

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

HB 1439 expands the oil extraction tax exemption for incremental production from a tertiary recovery project utilizing 
injected carbon dioxide produced from coal.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

HB 1439 creates an oil extraction tax exemption for incremental production from a tertiary recovery project that 
utilizes carbon dioxide from coal in a qualified project that has been certified by the industrial commission. The 
exemption is for twenty years for a project located outside the Bakken and Three Forks formations and ten years for 
a project located within the Bakken or Three Forks formations.

Because five- and ten-year tertiary recovery exemptions exist in current law, the provisions of HB 1439, which 
expand the period of exemption to ten and twenty years, would occur outside the biennium. There is no fiscal impact 
in the 2019-21 biennium.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.



C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 01/23/2019



19.8160.01000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

01/14/2019

Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1439

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

HB 1439 expands the oil extraction tax exemption for incremental production from a tertiary recovery project utilizing 
injected carbon dioxide produced from coal.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

HB 1439 creates an oil extraction tax exemption for incremental production from a tertiary recovery project that 
utilizes carbon dioxide from coal in a qualified project that has been certified by the industrial commission. The 
exemption is for twenty years for a project located outside the Bakken and Three Forks formations and ten years for 
a project located within the Bakken or Three Forks formations.

Because five- and ten-year tertiary recovery exemptions exist in current law, the provisions of HB 1439, which 
expand the period of exemption to ten and twenty years, would occur outside the biennium. There is no fiscal impact 
in the 2019-21 biennium.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.



C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

Name: Kathryn Strombeck

Agency: Office of Tax Commissioner

Telephone: 701.328.3402

Date Prepared: 01/23/2019
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk               Kathleen Davis 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to an oil extraction tax for the incremental production from tertiary recovery projects 
using carbon dioxide; and to provide an effective date 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachment 1,2,3,4,5,6 

 
Vice Chairman Damschen called the hearing to order on HB 1439.   
 
Rep Porter, Dist. 34, Mandan:  Presented Attachment 1, an amendment to HB 1439.  We’ve 
always had tertiary and incremental recovery systems in our oil fields. We’ve allowed them 
a tax exemption up to 10 years of the oil tax for that recovery because of the expenses 
involved in getting the oil out. We’re not talking about Bakken wells; we’re talking about 
traditional oil fields. They reach a critical point to unitize a field, to inject into the field 
something in order to get the rest of the oil out. Typically, we’ve used water. EERC, our 
primary source of information in the Bakken show us is that CO2 is a valuable source to 
increase production in some of these traditional fields. Our problem is we don’t have any 
large scale CO2 inside ND. You have to get to WY where they have sources in the ground, drill 
a well, get CO2 out.  What we do have is a viable lignite industry, a lot of coal generate power 
plants and a target on them coming from WDC. This project not only enhances oil recovery 
inside ND in traditional fields, it’s creating a beneficial use for our   CO2 from existing coal 
fired power plants. The technology is up and coming how to capture it and put it to beneficial 
use. It’s a win-win for both industries and for ND. There is a war on coal and we have an 800 
year supply of lignite in this state. We need to figure out a way to solidify our coal fired 
generation for jobs, taxes, baseload power provided, and we need to figure out how to get 
more oil out of the ground in these traditional oil fields and get them resources they need to 
do that. This bill asks that we extend the incremental tax, not a base tax.  The Supreme Court 
has looked at that the bill was never intended to prevent the superior mining of the mineral 
estate in ways they see necessary. So water flooding, putting water back down in, the 
argument could be made that it belongs to the surface. It is part of the mineral. Same with 
this new CO2 product. We need to make it clear if you’re still using tertiary recoveries, that 
what you’re putting down here is part of the recovery, not to store the CO2.   
 
8:00 
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Sen Unruh:  I am here to testify in favor of the bill.  This bill is the dream. If we could take 
our CO2 emissions from our coal fired power plants, inject it underground to get more oil out 
of the ground, that would be an awesome legacy. I hope with the development of technology 
over the years we can get there. It helps our conventional fields. I ran across a mistake in the 
Century Code that seems to have been carried over into this bill.  Page 2 Line 3, to qualify 
for the exemption, under this subsection a project must be located outside the Bakken and 3 
Forks formations. I believe that word should be or instead of and. This same mistake is found 
on Line 14 of the same page. Line 15 same page, says, “Bakken and Three Forks” certainly 
needs to be or. 
 
Vice Chairman Damschen: questions?  Further testimony 
 
Rep. Michael Howe, Dist. 22, Cass County:  The reason I signed on is because what 
happens in coal county has a trickledown effect of what happens in the eastern part of the 
state.  This bill will help keep utility rates low for people in my district.  
 
Vice Chairman Damschen: questions?  Further  
 
Jason Bohrer, president and CEO of the Lignite Energy Council: presented Attachment 2.  
 
Rep. Keiser: The fiscal note has no fiscal impact because it won’t happen during this 
biennium. Can you share your vision of the time table you project it happening?  
 
Bohrer:  How are we operating in all manners in a fiscally responsible way?   We’re only 
talking about incremental. There’s never an impact because those barrels would stay in the 
ground but for this. We can anticipate projects in the field in the next 3-4 years. We’re trying 
to make sure the science works, 4-5 years down the road. 
 
Rep. Roers Jones: The barrels that would otherwise stay in the ground? How do you 
determine that for the wells inside the Bakken and Three Forks, will they have to use 
traditional production methods until they are not successful and then they’ll use the CO2 

injection after that point and have the tax deductions going forward? 
 
17:54 
 
Bohrer: Making sure we are extracting the maximum value for the taxpayer and the state out 
of the Bakken is one of our primary priorities. That issue I think would unfold as you 
described.   
 
Vice Chairman Damschen: further questions? Further testimony? 
 
Ron Ness, ND Petroleum Council:  This takes me back to a discussion I had back in about 
2002, when are the oil companies going to utilize ND CO2 which has been coming out of ND 
Gasification Plant and going through ND oil fields into Canada, and when are the coal 
companies going to provide us a reliable source of CO2. Then along comes EERC into the 
conversation. It’s been 15 years of trying to get these stars aligned. Finally, technology is 
arriving to capture CO2 off coal plants not just Dakota Gasification, which that CO2 had been 
committed in long term contracts into Canada.  You have aging retired ND declining oil fields 
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and now producing less than 5% of our oil productions. The fiscal note on this bill would not 
impact until a decade after the project begins and getting your first incremental barrel of oil.  
From the state’s standpoint, there is no risk here. We support the concept. This bill makes 
ND sense and a move in the right direction. 
 
Vice Chairman Damschen:  questions. 
 
Rep. Roers Jones: I understand the benefit. Are there other sources of CO2 we should be 
considering rather than just limiting it to CO2 from coal? 
 
Ness: Certainly we hope there are. There’s a pure source out of ethanol plants. There’s 
another project coming up to MT and Bowman ND from WY, captured CO2 off of a major gas 
processing plant.  
 
Vice Chairman Damschen further questions? Testimony in favor of HB 1439? 
 
John Harju, Energy & Environment Research Center of UND:  Presented Attachment 3   
 
28:30 
 
Rep. Roers Jones: Can you give us an idea of the federal tax credits are? 
 
Harju:  Federal tax credits were enacted last year. Ultimately they’ll escalate to $35 per ton 
of CO2 stored in an enhanced oil recovery project. There’s a number of things the operator 
needs to prove up and some lagging guidelines from treasury to utilize that.  We would need 
about ½ ton of CO2 for each incremental barrel of oil, an incentive on a per barrel basis, that 
multiple of the 35. As a point of reference, we estimate the cost of capture and compression 
on the order of $60-65 per ton and the value of CO2 delivered to a field based on market 
prices to be on the order of $20-30 ton. There’s still a gap between what your federal tax 
credit might be, the intrinsic economic value and the actual cost of getting that CO2. 
 
Rep. Keiser:   If we have this growth, wouldn’t we be able to use all the CO2 produced in the 
current demand now be able to market that and if not, market it outside of the state? 
 
Harju: I don’t have all my data but, we don’t believe the convention resource would support 
the capture of all CO2 from all plants and a doubling the industry. However, in the Bakken 
resource, you may be able to start pointing through those kinds of numbers. The universe of 
CO2 amenable oil in our conventional system’s on the order of a billion, it’s multiples of that 
in our system. 
 
Vice Chairman Damschen:  further questions? Further testimony? 
 
Stacey Dahl, Sr. Mgr of External Affairs for Minnkota Power Cooperative, Grand Forks, 
ND and Milton R. Young Station, Center ND: presented Attachment 4.    
 
Vice Chairman Damschen:  questions?  Further testimony? 
 
Lynn Helms, director of ND Dept. of Mineral Resources:  presented Attachment 5.  
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Vice Chairman Damschen: questions? 
 
41:54 
 
Rep. Keiser: Are any of those contributing factors expected to go up or down? In the end of 
10 years when we’re ready to go, is that $5 proportionately turned into $30?   
 
Helms:  Best case scenario is 6 years in the future. Some will improve, perhaps EERC will 
find a way to get more than 4 barrels from a ton of CO2. The capture cost could come down. 
Potentially with what we’re going to learn we might be able to turn that $10 into $20 - $30 
and statewide applications.     
 
Rep. Roers Jones: The phased approach they did in MT and Canada, would be certified as 
different phases by the Industrial Commission tax benefits would start with each new phase. 
 
Helms:  Each new phase would get its own 20 years’ window.   
 
Vice Chairman Damschen: Further testimony in favor? 
 
Wade Boeshans, president & GM of BNI Energy, Inc.: presented Attachment 6 
 
Vice Chairman Damschen:  questions?  Further testimony in favor?  Any opposition? 
Closed the hearing.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
relating to an oil extraction tax exemption for the incremental production from tertiary 
recovery projects using carbon dioxide; and to provide for an effective date 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachment 1,2 

 
Chairman Porter called the hearing to order on HB 1439. 
 
Rep. Keiser: I move the adoption of Amendment 19.8160.01001. Attachment 1 
 
Rep Ruby:  Second. 
 
Chairman Porter:  discussion?  This differentiates between oil and gas development and the storage 
of products in the pore space.  All those in favor say Aye, opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Rep. Keiser: I move the adoption of Amendment 19.8160.01002, (Attachment 2) proposed by Sen. 
Unruh, which on Page 2 converts the and on line 4 to or; and on Line 15 the and to or.  So it would 
be Bakken or Three Forks in both cases. 
 
Chairman Porter: Before you make that motion the Lignite Energy Council had a technical change 
that was a mistake I would ask you include for Katie’s clarification on Page 5, Line 23 at the end that 
should have been in instead of if.  
 
Rep. Keiser:  I move that inclusion in with the amendment. 
 
Rep Devlin:  Second. 
 
Chairman Porter: is every one clear on what we’re doing? 
Page 2 Line 4 it will read, “Bakken or Three Forks” and 
Page 2 Line 15 it will read, “Bakken or Three Forks”, and 
Page 5 Line 23 it will read, “for purposes of this paragraph in determining the most recent 12 months 
of normal production”.  Everybody clear on that?   
All in favor say Aye, opposed?  Motion carried. 
 
We have an amended bill in front of us. 
 
Rep. Keiser: I move a do pass on HB 1439 as amended. 
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Rep Bosch: Second. 
 
Chairman Porter: We have motion and second for a Do Pass as Amended on HB 1439. Discussion? 
Clerk called roll.  13  yes     0 no     1 absent.  Motion carried.  Rep Bosch is carrier. 
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Alicia Larsgaard 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact section 47-31-09 of the North Dakota Century Code, 
relating to injecting substances for oil, gas, and mineral production; to amend and reenact 
subsection 3 of section 57-51.1-03 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to an oil 
extraction tax exemption for the incremental production from tertiary recovery projects using 
carbon dioxide; and to provide an effective date. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments: 6 

 
Chairman Cook: Called the committee to order on HB 1439.  
 
Vice Chairman Kannianen took over the hearing while Senator Cook went to 
introduced a bill in another committee.  
 
(2:30) Senator Porter, District 34, Mandan: Introduced HB 1439. This bill was worked on 
during the interim and it deals with CO2 enhanced oil injection along with the war on coal 
that has been going on since the mid-2000s. This was to figure out when the Supreme Court 
said the CO2 was problem emission to figure out a beneficial use of CO2 inside our existing 
coal fired power plants. You have a method before you to extend an exemption on the tax 
for the stripper well in order to allow them to use enhanced tertiary recovery. The hoax is that 
it will come from the coal fired power plants in Project Tundra and be piped out to the fields 
and then put into place. There are many experts behind me that are fully in favor of this. This 
bill benefits not only our coal fired power plant lignite industry, it also benefits our oil industry 
by using the technology developed at EERC to do enhanced oil recovery. Some of you are 
on Senate Energy. All of the senators were aware of the bill dealing with pore space. This 
bill has a component in it that deals with the definition of injecting CO2 down into the field 
that is still part of the mineral estate. When we did the bill on the pores base and CO2 storage, 
it bumped up against a little of the enhanced oil recovery whether it be a water flood or a 
CO2 secondary recovery. We wanted to make sure we are clear that that is still part of the 
mineral estate. I think that is in section 1 of the bill. With that, I will be happy to answer any 
questions. I know the industry is here and ready to go into the fine details of what we are 
doing. 
 
Chairman Cook took over the hearing back over.  
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Senator Patten: As you know the pore space issue has become hot over the last few days 
in relation to SB 2344. I want to refer to section 1 on line 14-15. In 14-31-03 the title of pore 
space is specifically granted to the surface owner. Essentially you are authorizing the use of 
the pore space under this bill without considering the surface owner’s interests, correct?  
 
Senator Porter: No. This says how the existing law is and should be interpreted from the 
start of oil production. The pore space never existed until the mineral was brought out. All of 
the mineral is not out of that pore space. To use another solution for that mineral owner to 
get their property out of the ground, is not a trespass. Even though it has components of 
2344, this one very specific component is not related to the bill you were citing in chapter 47 
because this is the enhancement of the mineral estate, not the storage of a product in 
perpetuity. When we set that up in 2009, the oil and gas industry was very concerned while 
we were doing that. That was another component of the war on coal. We were looking for 
another way to inject CO2 into the ground for permanent storage. If you look into that chapter, 
you will see that at a point, once the field is certified, the ownership is turned over to the state 
of ND in perpetuity. It is severed at a point from the surface. In the beginning, it is the surface. 
Once that field is certified as a storage field, all of the liability for that field belongs to the state 
of ND in the end. This is very different in regard to chapter 47.  
 
Senator Kannianen: I would like to ask about the economics of this. When we talk about 
exemptions, it is the idea that it wouldn’t be economically viable or the dollars and cents 
would not quite add up on its own. Is that the case with this? If left on its own without an 
exemption, it wouldn’t be used or economical to do so?  
 
Senator Porter: When you look at the equipment out in the field that is necessary, in order 
to do this on those stripper wells, all we are exemption is the tertiary recovery. It was felt as 
we looked at this, that that would make it so it would be economically viable. It would be a 
great partnership between our coal industry and our oil industry on that enhanced recovery. 
They will do into that a little more.  
 
Jason Bohrer, President and CEO of the Lignite Energy Council: Testified in favor of the 
bill. See attachment #1. Read word for word. (14:00) ended. Introduced Craig Bleth. 
 
Craig Bleth, Senior Manager, Power Production, Minnkota Power: Testified in favor of 
the bill. See attachment #2. Minnkota is a nonprofit electricity generating and transmission 
cooperative serving eastern ND and western MN. We have about 130,000 customers and 
cover about a 35,000 square mile area. In recent years, I have also served on the leadership 
committee in the development of Project Tundra. This project is a proposed retrofit project 
on our unit 2 at the Milton Young Station to caption carbon Dioxide. This is an example of a 
project that can benefit from the policies in HB 1439. The project is in the research and 
development phase with our partners including Eagle Energy, BNI Energy, EERC, ND 
Industrial Commission, and the Department of Energy. If carbon capture and utilization 
projects like Tundra are built in the state, the benefits to the lignite petroleum industry in the 
state of ND are unquestionable. Minnkota wants to find a long term path for our Milton Young 
Station to operate. These plants are presently proposed to operate to 2042. Carbon 
regulation will eventually be a factor in how long these facilities are able to operate. We are 
seeking a technology solution to help position our facilities to bare the back and forth swings 
we have been seeing particularly in the last 5 years. These projects are complex, expensive, 
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and risk intensive. Every small advantage the project can get, helps. It is only a tax relief if 
these projects are built and actually applied. This target incentive will help coal and aligns 
with our state’s petroleum industry for the future or economic growth in both of these 
industries. We are in support of this bill and encourage the committee to recommend a do 
pass this bill.  
 
Chairman Cook: Can you explain where Project Tundra is at today?  
 
Craig Bleth: We are involved in two separate projects with the EERC and other industry 
partners. It is in the pre front end engineering design state. Last fall, the ND Industrial 
Commission awarded the $15 M for participation in a fee study which is the front end 
engineering design where the final design takes place contingent upon the same cost from 
the D.O.E. We are expecting an application from them later in the second quarter.  
 
Chairman Cook: Has anything like this been done elsewhere?  
 
Craig Bleth: Two projects come to mind, one in Texas and one at Boundary Damn 3 in 
Canada. In 2017, that is when petro nova came on. That is about half the size of what we 
are proposing from Young two but about the technology. 
 
Chairman Cook: So the wheel has been invented and it works?  
 
Craig Bleth: Yes.  
 
Senator Patten: Can you tell me how the Project Tundra utilizes the service ownership of 
pore space and how the relationship is going as far as agreements and so on?  
 
Craig Bleth: Those things we know. We are not nearly to that point yet as far as permitting 
and leasing. They are being contemplated. We are supportive of anything that will allow this 
to productively move forward.  
 
Brian Kalk, Energy Environment Research Center (EERC): Testified in support. See 
attachment #3. We see this bill as a bridge in the gap from what the value of CO2 is now, to 
what the value of CO2 could be. The exemptions offered in 1439 along with federal 
exemptions could be the path to make Tundra a reality and get the additional billion barrels 
of oil out of the ground. We have great things going on in the lab. If we can get these tax 
credit into place that would be great for us.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: Have you done any work in the field? Is this all in the lab so far?  
 
Brian Kalk: There has been a lot of work done in the field. We have an EERC team as well 
as part of Minnkota out in the field for the past year doing work out at the Young station. We 
have Project Carbon 1 which is ongoing. Project Carbon 2 in which the state has invested 
$15 M in. This brings us into the next phase to have a full scale capture on the Young station. 
You need to move that CO2 in a pipeline to a field somewhere. You have to have a value of 
that CO2 to sell to the oil guys. This tax credit would be the bridge to pull it all together. 
Without them, it will be challenging. There have been a few of these out there but this would 
be the largest CO2 capture plant on a coal plant in the world. It is revolutionary technology. 
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We could do it right here in ND and get more oil out of the ground. We could have our lignite 
industry make a future. It is much more than the lab. It is ongoing. There is work in the lab 
and the field.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: When they go out into the fields, the lines that go into the ground will 
have to be a high amount within a unit. Do they use an existing core that has been drilled 
previously or do they have to drill a separate kind of line to get CO2 in the ground?  
 
Brian Kalk: This is the area where I have about 0 expertise. I would refer to the oil industry.  
 
Chairman Cook: Project Tundra will capture 100% of the CO2 correct?  
 
Brian Kalk: We are working for 90% right now.  
 
Ron Ness, ND Petroleum Council: Testified in favor of the bill. The lignite council has come 
up with a way to fund the project costs on their end which is the last missing star in the 
alignment to get this going. By doing this, you can create the economics to make it work on 
the capture side. If you do not have the capture, you do not have anything else. This has 
been the chicken and the egg issue forever. There are substantial costs on the oil producer 
side in terms of field preparation and readiness. Project Tundra is looking at old traditional 
ND oil fields. In terms of enhances oil recovery and using the tertiary method of CO2. You 
need the pipeline which is about $1 M per mile. The focus of this bill is how to ensure the 
economics of the capture will work to get the oil and take the risk. The risk is on the production 
end for our oil producer who will likely do this. If you do not make it work with all these 
components, the bill won’t have an impact on anything. At the end of the day, you have to 
produce a bill to get anything out of this. We stand in support of this bill. It has been a long 
time coming. EERC is the only thing that has made the technology available and possibly. 
We have to see if we can apply this in ND oil fields. This is only for the additional incremental 
benefit that is only on incremental oil. If I am getting 50 barrels a day, it is only on the oil that 
is produced about the 50 barrels. If I get 100, then I receive this tax exemption on the 
additional 50. I still pay the full 10% on the first 50 barrels. That work is done by the industrial 
commission when you unitize and bring this project forward. I will stand for any questions.  
 
Chairman Cook: Can you answer Senator Dotzenrod’s previous question?  
 
Ron Ness: Senator Dotzenrod, can you ask the question again?  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: It appears that in order to make this recovery work, you have to have 
a number of injection cites to get the oil to migrate to a place where it can be withdrawn from 
the ground. Those lines that carry CO2 down, are you going to use existing wells to take the 
CO2 down or does that have to be a separate operation to get that CO2 line into the ground?  
 
Ron Ness: You have to go through your entire field and change over all the infrastructure 
and equipment in order to manage that CO2. I think in regards to the injection wells, you are 
going to use the existing wells you have. You are going to do this after you have done a water 
flood. You are going to convert your water injection wells into wells that will utilize CO2. 
Typically, you do these on a larger field in phases because of the size of the magnitude and 
the question if there is enough CO2 to do the whole field. You are going to phase your field 
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in over time. The key component is that it is a big risk on the operation end. We have to crack 
this code. The suppliers also have to find themselves an operator that is willing to take the 
risk. In this case, we currently have two ND entities coming together to do this. This is not 
easy. It is risky and expensive.  
 
I also have a comment on Senator Patten’s pore space question. We have been injecting 
water into oil fields for decades to get more oil with never any discussion about additional 
compensation to recover that. We have also injected air or other things. I think the pore space 
question is similar to air space above your home. You can fly through it all you want but until 
I am damaged, I do not really owe you anything. It is whether it is the water the state of ND 
owns or something being utilized to enhance that mineral estate which is owned separately.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: SB 2344, the issue with pore space is different than the pore space 
issue here if I understand what you are saying.  
 
Ron Ness: I think you are right. This is in a separate chapter. This is about the injection of a 
substance to enhance the productivity and the recovery of the energy source.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: That is to using those as a storage.  
 
Ron Ness: Yes. The intent of the original geological pore space issue in chapter 47 was all 
about geological equation of storage and not about mineral development or enhancement.  
 
Lynn Helms, Director, ND Industrial Commission Department of Mineral Resources: 
Testified in favor of the bill. See attachment #4. You can see the prize at the top of the 
testimony. We are talking about utilization of captured carbon. If we put it into conventional 
resources, the potential is 1 billion barrels of recovery. Those resources are producing about 
45,000 barrels a day. It is a diminishing resource. Over the last 15 years, half of the 
conventional well have been plugged. As time goes on and the infrastructure ages, we are 
losing that opportunity. That Bakken is producing 1.35 million barrels a day and potentially 7 
billion barrels from CO2 recovery. That is much harder to get at. The oil industry can afford 
to pay a maximum of $20 per ton for that captured CO2. There is a federal program called 
45Q which by 2024 will contribute $35 per to in tax credits. That still leaves you $5 per ton 
short. Our calculations on the effects of this bill is that it will create a 10 dollar per ton tax 
credit. It will switch you from a $5 deficit to a $5 profit in terms of doing this type of work. 
Foreman Butte is the field 120 miles away where it is anticipated the EOR project will take 
place. It is currently being transferred from an Australian company to a ND company. There 
is a pilot water flood going on right now. In response to Senator Dotzenrod’s question, there 
are lots well bores in that field ready to inject CO2 and to produce enhanced recovery. At the 
Tundra capture site, the modeling is underway. There was a well drilled this last year to core 
and evaluate the broom creek formation as back up storage. EERC is helping Minnkota to 
prepare a permit application. It could involve as many as 5 CO2 storage wells and their 
intention would be to amalgamate that pore space in Center ND and to lease and pay the 
pore space owners for the permanent storage of that CO2 plume. You can see the industrial 
commission already heavily involved. There are $50 M in conjunction with D.O.E and 
Minnkota funds to support the feed study for this.  
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Section 2 of this bill lays out how the industrial commission is going to calculate incremental 
oil for these tertiary projects and how that tax will work and be transmitted to the tax 
department. The interesting thing about these projects is that they do not all happen all at 
once. Section two of the bill allows for an operator to come in and recertify each phase of the 
CO2 project so it tends to extend the impact on carbon capture and on the positive impact 
on the lignite industry. I will be happy to take questions.  
 
Senator Patten: Can you talk about the effect of the CO2 injection in the tighter formations 
regarding feasibility. My understanding is that it is more challenging than it would be in 
Bowman County.  
 
Lynn Helms: That is true. The Bakken and Three Forks CO2 recovery is still at laboratory 
scale. That is 90% recovery. There has not been a successful secondary project in the 
Bakken in Three Forks yet. There are two projects underway there is one at Ross and one 
at Tioga. I just heard some promising results of the one at Ross. We should be able to move 
CO2 out of the lab to some sort of field demonstration project in the Bakken and Three Forks. 
We are years away from that. We are ready to move CO2 recovery from demonstration 
projects to a field wide because is it a conventional resource.  
 
Senator Patten: For everyone’s benefit, could you walk through the stages of that production 
from a new well all the way down to the stripper wells as far as the stages in water flood and 
so on.  
 
Lynn Helms: When the wells are drilled, they rely on formation pressure to move oil and gas 
to the surface. That is called pressure depletion. The recoveries can range from 10-20%. In 
the Foreman Butte area, I believe the recovery is in the 15-20% range. Just decreasing the 
pressure and letting the oil flow, you can get about 1/5 of it. Water floor typically follows where 
you pump water into the formation. Water and oil do not mix but water re pressures and 
pushed oil ahead of it. In the case of Foreman Butte, the anticipation is that we might get to 
1/3. If that is successful, then you can put a solvent in.  
 
Senator Patten: Can that water flood be fresh water or salt water?  
 
Lynn Helms: It can be saltwater. It is best if it is formation water because that is known to 
be compatible with the fluids already in the reservoir. Sometimes, the fresh water reacts with 
the formation water and plugs it up. The preference is to used produced or formation water. 
Forman Butte is using Bakken produced water for this pilot water flood. Once that is 
demonstrated successfully, then a solvent like CO2 can be introduced. That actually mixes 
with the oil and changes the characteristics of it. It flows much easier. There are cases where 
the recovery is 65% in Texas using solvent methods like CO2. That is the hope here. We are 
ready to move this type of project out of the lab and into field demonstration. The economics 
do not work without some kind of tax incentive.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: The typical production curve on Bakken wells is that getting of a lot of 
production right away and then a pretty rapid decline. It is my understand that with the CO2 
projects, it is almost the opposite. You will start a little slow and then it climbs up and levels 
up and you get a pretty steady production for an expanded period of time. This map you have 
here of Weyburn; is that what they experienced there? 



Senate Finance and Taxation Committee  
HB 1439 
March 4, 2019 
Page 7  
   

 
Lynn Hems: In Weyburn and in Bell Creek that is true. Production was in decline when CO2 
was introduced. Weyburn went on a continuous build in production for 11 years. Now it is 
stable. It has been stable now for almost 8 years will constant production. Bell Creek is still 
building because they are continuing to implement additional phases. They have been 
injecting now for 5.5 years. The production is continuing to increase. It will probably stabilize 
in the mid-20s and probably stay there for as much as a decade. It is a great way for offsetting 
those extreme declines.  
 
Senator Dotzenrod: When you say it has been stable for 11 years, it has been stable at a 
fairly high level of production.  
 
Lynn Helms: Yes. In Weyburn, it took them 11 years to build the production. It has been 
stable for 7 years. It is actually producing as much as it was at the peak of its water flood 
production. They create a long term stable income for the oil and gas industry as well as the 
carbon capture folks.   
 
Chairman Cook: Any further testimony in support? Any testimony opposed?  
 
Connie Triplet, Grand Forks: Testified neutrally to the bill. See attachment #5. I am not 
opposed to the entire bill. I have signed in as neutral on section 2 and opposed to section 1. 
The reason I am neutral on section 1 is not about the concept. I think those of you will recall 
my participation on this committee for many years and will know I was a proponent of this 
motion of integrating the coal and oil industries in ND around carbon capture and storage. I 
am not opposed to the concept. I am neutral to section 2 because I am not familiar with the 
economics. (43:15) Began reading from her testimony. (47:15) I am going to answer Senator 
Dotzenrod’s question about this. My understanding is that when CO2 is used for EOR, it is a 
repeated process. When you inject CO2, oil comes up. When the oil comes up, some of the 
CO2 comes up too. Each time that happens, the CO2 is then separated from the new oil and 
reused. Each time it is recycled, some portion of it stays down into the subsurface. I believe 
that could be metered. They know how much they are injecting in and they know how much 
of it comes out when they separate it back out again. (48:18) Began reading from testimony 
again at the bottom of page 2. (49:57) Someone made a point that pore space does not 
actually exist until the oil is removed. Maybe there is a tradeoff. The oil companies may say 
they are creating pore space for the company owners by sucking this oil out. If they end of 
using 10% of storage, maybe the companies owe them instead of them owing the companies. 
I do not know how the economics of this are going to work out. I am just saying you have to 
honor the legal right of the surface owners to this pore space. The free market can decide 
these things. (50:35) Began reading from testimony on page 3.  
 
(51:20): I would like to take a few more minutes to make some comments on some things I 
heard throughout the hearing so far. Representative Porter made the point that section 1 is 
a component of enhancing the mineral estate and it is not permanent storage. I think he 
wrong about that to the extent I described. I think there is some component of permanent 
storage that has to be dealt with. Senator Dotzenrod asked Brian Kalk about work in the lab 
or in the field. I think they ended up clarifying that his question was about storage and his 
initial response was about the carbon capture at the coal industry end of it. I would like to 
answer his question about whether this work has been done in the lab or the field. I can 
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answer that will clarity because I am married to the fellow that was the director of the EERC. 
That project was huge and the Department of Energy put out bids for 7 separate projects 
across the country to study carbon capture. The EERC got one of those bids. Their piece of 
the country was the entire great plains. Two Canadian providences joined in. It was a ten-
year project. It was funded mostly by D.O.E. The main part of it was that it was a public 
private partnership so that many industry partners ended up joining in and providing an 
enormous amount of contributions including drilling wells for this project only. The end result 
is that up and down the Great Plains, something more than $600 M was spent over a period 
of 10 years. This research if pretty thorough. Ron Ness made a point about the pore space 
question. He said we have been injected water and air into the wells for decades. He used 
the analogy of flying through the air and not harming anyone. I agree that the water and air 
floods are not something that should bring us to the concern about paying anyone for pore 
space. Those are both natural and harmless products. I think the question comes in when 
you talk about disposal. Disposal wells have no place in this conversation. If you are injecting 
hazardous material into the pore space, that is an issue where then someone’s post mineral 
production pore space is degraded and used up. Those people should certainly be paid for 
that. The other issue is to the extent of the permanent storage of carbon dioxide or natural 
gas and the landowner would have to pay out. We have to try to maintain consistency and 
not split it out from multiple chapters. I request that you guys focus on the piece that you are 
good at which is the tax issue and leave the pore space to the natural resource committees.  
 
Chairman Cook: Any further testimony? Hearing none, we will close the hearing on HB 
1439.  
 
Connie Triplet later submitted further data to the committee. See attachment #6.  
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